Minutes of the regular monthly meeting of the Planning Commission of Henrico County held in the County Administration Building in the Government Center at 2 Parham and Hungary Spring Roads, beginning at 7:00 p.m., Thursday, July 13, 3 2023. Display Notice having been published in the Richmond Times-Dispatch on June 26, 2023, and July 3, 2023. 5 6 7 Members Present: 8 Mr. Robert H. Witte, Jr., Chairperson (Brookland) Mr. Gregory R. Baka, Vice Chair (Tuckahoe) 9 10 Mrs. Melissa L. Thornton, (Three Chopt) Mr. C. W. Archer, C.P.C. (Fairfield) 11 Mr. William M. Mackey, Jr., (Varina) 12 Mr. R. Joseph Emerson, Jr., AICP, Director of Planning 13 Secretary 14 Mr. Thomas M. Branin (Three Chopt) 15 **Board of Supervisors Representative** 16 17 Also Present: Ms. Jean Moore, Assistant Director 18 Mr. Ben Sehl, Senior Principal Planner 19 20 Ms. Molly Mallow, County Planner Ms. Kelly Drash, County Planner 21 Mr. Livingston Lewis, County Planner 22 Mr. Seth Humphreys, County Planner 23 Mr. Lamont Johnson, Assistant Traffic Engineer 24 Mr. Billy Moffett, Police \* 25 26 27 (Virtually) 28 29 Mr. Thomas M. Branin, the Board of Supervisors' representative, abstains on all cases unless otherwise noted. 30 31 Mr. Witte -Good evening, welcome to the July 13, 2023, meeting of the 32 Planning Commission. I'll ask you to stand for the Pledge of Allegiance and while doing 33 so please turn off or mute your cell phones. 34 35 [Recitation of Pledge of Allegiance] 36 37 38 Mr. Witte -Do we have any news media in the audience? Anybody? No? You're not news media? Alright, with that I'll turn it over to Secretary, Mr. Emerson. 39 40 41 Mr. Emerson -Thank you Mr. Chairman. I'd like to join with the Chairman and 42 welcome all of you to the Henrico County Planning Commission meeting public hearing 43 for July 13. This evening it's requested that all public comments be provided from the 44

lectern to the rear of the room. If you look over your shoulder, you can see it. For everyone

who's watching the livestream on the county website, you can participate remotely in the

public hearings by following these guidelines. You also can view them on the screen in

45

46

front of you but I'll run over them very quickly here. You go to the Planning Department's meeting webpage at henrico.us/planning/meetings. Scroll down under Planning Commission and click on Webex Event. Once you have joined the Webex Event, please click the chat button in the bottom-right corner of the screen. Staff will send a message asking if anyone would like to sign up to speak on an upcoming case. To respond, select Kelly Drash from the drop-down menu and send her a message. She will get you placed in the queue to speak on that particular topic. The Commission does have guidelines for its public hearings. The applicant is allowed 10 minutes to present the request and time may be reserved for responses to testimony. The opposition is allowed a cumulative 10 minutes to present its concerns meaning that everyone who wishes to speak must be included in that overall, 10-minute allowance. Commission questions do not count into those time limits. The Commission may waive those time limits at its discretion. Comments must be directly related to the case under consideration. Commenters must provide their name and address prior to speaking for our record. We keep verbatim minutes, so we need your information in order to make sure that we have you quoted correctly in case we need to contact you in the future. Thank you again for your participation and your interest in your community this evening. With that said Mr. Chairman, the first item on your agenda are the requests for withdrawals and deferrals and they will be presented by Mr. Ben Sehl.

66 67 68

69

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

55

56

57

58

59

60

61

62

63

64

65

Mr. Sehl - Thank you Mr. Emerson, members of the Commission. Staff is aware of four deferral request this evening. The first is on Page 1 of your agenda in the Three Chopt District. This is REZ2023-00022, SKM, LLC.

70 71 72

73

74

75

76

77

**REZ2023-00022** Andrew M. Condlin for SKM, LLC.: Request to amend proffers accepted with REZ2022-00003 on Parcel 733-765-4819 located at the northwest intersection of W. Broad Street (U.S. Route 250) and N. Gayton Road. The applicant proposes to amend proffers regarding the concept plan, architecture, minimum finished floor area, and trees. The existing zoning is R-6C General Residence District (Conditional). The 2026 Comprehensive Plan recommends Urban Mixed Use and Environmental Protection Area. The site is located in the West Broad Street Overlay District.

78 79 80

The applicant is requesting this item be deferred to your August 10, 2023, meeting.

81 82

Mr. Witte - Is there anyone in the audience or on Webex who opposes this case?

83 84

85 Mr. Morris - Mr. Chairman, there is no one on Webex for this case.

86

Mrs. Thornton - Okay, Mr. Chairman, I move REZ2023-00022, SKM, LLC be deferred to the August 10, 2023, meeting at the request of the applicant.

89

90 Mr. Archer - Second.

91 92

Mr. Witte - We have a motion by Mrs. Thornton, a second by Mr. Archer.

93 All in favor say aye.

Commission -

Aye.

97

Mr. Witte -

Opposed? Motion passes.

98

99 100

Mr. Sehl -Also on Page 1 of your agenda in the Three Chopt District is the companion request, PUP2023-00009, also SKM, LLC.

101 102

103

104

105

106

107

108

PUP2023-00009 Andrew M. Condlin for SKM, LLC.: Request for a Provisional Use Permit under Sections 24-2306 and 24-4315.C of Chapter 24 of the County Code to allow commercial uses and zoning modifications as part of a master-planned development on part of Parcel 733-765-4819 located at the northwest intersection of W. Broad Street (U.S. Route 250) and N. Gayton Road. The existing zoning is R-6C General Residence District (Conditional). Proffer amendments are proposed with REZ2023-00022. The 2026 Comprehensive Plan recommends Urban Mixed Use and Environmental Protection Area. The site is located in the West Broad Street Overlay District.

109 110

111

The applicant is again requesting a deferral to your August 10, meeting.

112

113 Mr. Witte -

Is there anyone in the audience or on Webex opposed to this

case? 114

115

Mr. Morris -116

Mr. Chairman, there is no one on Webex for this case.

17 118

Mrs. Thornton -

Okay, Mr. Chairman, I move that PUP2023-00009, SKM, LLC

be deferred to the August 10, 2023, meeting at the request of the applicant.

119 120

Mr. Archer -121

Second.

122

Mr. Witte -123

We have a motion by Mrs. Thornton, a second by Mr. Archer.

All in favor say aye.

124 125

Commission -126

Aye.

127

Mr. Witte-128

Opposed? Motion passes.

129

Mr. Sehl -The next deferral request is in the Brookland District on Page 130 131

2 of your agenda. This is REZ2022-00031, Rebkee Company.

132 133

134

39

Andrew M. Condlin for Rebkee Company: REZ2022-00031 Request to conditionally rezone from R-4 One-Family Residence District, R-5C General Residence

District (Conditional), O-2C Office District (Conditional), and B-2C Business District 135 (Conditional) to B-2C Business District (Conditional) part of Parcels 772-749-3398 and 136

772-749-6261 containing 8.701 acres located on the west line of Staples Mill Road (U.S. 137 138

Route 33) approximately 300' south of Bremner Boulevard. The applicant proposes an automobile filling station with a convenience store and carwash and general commercial

use with drive-thru. The uses will be controlled by zoning ordinance regulations and 140 proffered conditions. The 2026 Comprehensive Plan recommends Office and Suburban 141 Residential 2, density should not exceed 3.4 units per acre. Most of the site is in the 142 Enterprise Zone. 143 144 The applicant is requesting this item be deferred to your November 9, 2023, meeting. 145 146 Mr. Witte -Is there anyone in the audience who is opposed to this case 147 deferral? 148 149 Mr. Chairman, there is no one on Webex for this case. Mr. Morris -150 151 Mr. Witte -Okay, with that I move that REZ2022-00031, Rebkee 152 Company be deferred to the November 9, 2023, meeting at the request of the applicant. 153 154 Mr. Baka -Second. 155 156 Mr. Witte -We have a motion by Mr. Witte, a second by Mr. Baka. All in 157 favor say aye. 158 159 Commission -160 Aye. 161 Mr. Witte -Opposed? Motion passes. 162 163 Also requesting deferral is the companion request, PUP2022-Mr. Sehl -164 00019, on Page 2 of your agenda. 165 166 PUP2022-00019 Andrew M. Condlin for Rebkee Company: Request for a 167 Provisional Use Permit under Sections 24-4205, 24-4315 and 24-2306 of Chapter 24 of 168 169 the County Code to allow a carwash and 24-hour operation on part of Parcels 772-749-3398 and 772-749-6261 located on the west line of Staples Mill Road (U.S. Route 33) 170 approximately 300' south of Bremner Boulevard. The existing zoning is R-4 One-Family 171 Residence District, R-5C General Residence District (Conditional), O-2C Office District 172 (Conditional), and B-2C Business District (Conditional). B-2C Business District 173 (Conditional) zoning is proposed with REZ2022-00031. The 2026 Comprehensive Plan 174 recommends Office and Suburban Residential 2, density should not exceed 3.4 units per 175 176 acre. Most of the site is in the Enterprise Zone 177

Again, the applicant is requesting a deferral to your November 9, 2023, meeting.

180 Mr. Witte - Is anyone in the audience or on Webex who is opposed to this case?

183 Mr. Morris - Mr. Chairman, there is no one on Webex for this case.

182

184

185	Mr. Witte -	With that I move that PUP2022-00019, Rebkee Company be		
186	deferred to the November 9, 2023, meeting at the request of the applicant.			
187 188	Mr. Mackey -	Second.		
189	m. maonoy	occord.		
190	Mr. Witte -	We have a motion by Mr. Witte, a second by Mr. Baka. All in		
191	favor say aye.			
192	Commission			
193 194	Commission -	Aye.		
194	Mr. Witte -	Opposed? Motion passes.		
196		opposed. Motori passes.		
197	Mr. Emerson -	I think that was Mr. Mackey.		
198				
199	Mr. Witte -	Oh, excuse me. That was Mr. Mackey that seconded. My		
200	apologies.			
201 202	Mr. Mackey -	No problem, sir.		
203	WII. WIGORCY	140 problem, sii.		
204	Mr. Emerson -	Mr. Chairman, that completes the withdrawals and deferrals		
205	for this evening. The r	next item on the agenda are requests for expedited items. Those		
206	will also be presented by Mr. Ben Sehl.			
207	Mr. Cabl	There was and Mr. Francis There is an accord to		
209	Mr. Sehl -	Thank you again Mr. Emerson. There is one request for		
210	expedited approval on your agenda this evening. It's in the Fairfield District on Page 1 of your agenda. This is PUP2023-00008, Jack Fleming.			
211	your agonaa. This is t	or 2020 00000, back richning.		
212	PUP2023-00008 Ja	ck Fleming: Request for a Provisional Use Permit under Sections		
213		24-2306 of Chapter 24 of the County Code to allow coffee roasting		
214		39 located on the east line of Lakeside Avenue (State Route 161)		
215		h of its intersection with Ginter Street. The existing zoning is B-2		
216 217	Business District. The 2026 Comprehensive Plan recommends Commercial Concentration. The site is located in the Enterprise Zone.			
218	The one is located in the	is Emerphos 2016.		
219	I will note that revised conditions with a revision to Condition #3 regarding hours of			
220	roasting was provided to you in your packet this evening. Staff is unaware of any			
221	opposition to this request and the applicant has indicated they are comfortable with the			
222	conditions as presented and I'd be happy to try and answer any questions you might			
223	have.			
224 225	Mr. Witte -	Any questions by the committee?		
226	Will. William	rary questions by the committee:		
227	Mr. Mackey -	No, sir.		
228				
229	Mr. Witte -	Is there anyone on Webex or in the audience opposed to this		
30	case?			

232 Mr. Morris - Mr. Chairman, there is no one on Webex for this case.

Mr. Archer - Mr. Chairman, therefore I recommend approval of PUP2023-00008, Jack Fleming subject to the conditions dated July 12, 2023.

237 Mrs. Thornton - Second.

239 Mr. Witte - We have a motion by Mr. Archer, a second by Mrs. Thornton.
240 All in favor say aye.

242 Commission - Aye.

Mr. Witte - Opposed? Motion passes.

REASON: Acting on a motion by Mr. Archer, seconded by Mrs. Thornton, the Planning Commission voted 5-0 (one abstention) to recommend the Board of Supervisors grant the request because it is reasonable in light of the surrounding uses and existing zoning on the property, and it would provide added services to the community.

Mr. Emerson - Mr. Chairman, that completes the expedited items for this evening. We now move on to your regular agenda to Page 2 for REZ2023-00021, Mark Baker for 401 South, LLC.

**REZ2023-00021 Mark Baker for 401 South, LLC:** Request to conditionally rezone from R-3 One-Family Residence District to R-4AC One-Family Residence District (Conditional) Parcel 821-720-0509 containing 2.34 acres located at the southwest intersection of South Street and Dale Street. The applicant proposes single-family dwellings. The uses will be controlled by zoning ordinance regulations and proffered conditions. The 2026 Comprehensive Plan recommends Suburban Residential 2. This site is located in the Airport Safety Overlay District.

The staff report will be presented by Mr. Seth Humphreys.

Mr. Humphreys - Thank you members of the Planning Commission. This is a request to conditionally rezone 2.34 acres from R-3 to R-4AC to construct nine single-family homes. The site is located on the south line of South Street between Luther Road and Dale Street. Surrounding uses include: the remainder of the York Manor subdivision to the north; the Southern Railway line to the south; and single-family neighborhoods adjacent to the east and west. The 2026 Comprehensive Plan recommends Suburban Residential 2 for the subject site, with a recommended density of up to 3.4 units per acre.

Under the site's current R-3 zoning, the property could be developed for seven single-family homes by right. As illustrated on the proffered layout, the applicant wishes to rezone to R-4AC for a bit narrower lot widths to allow the construction of two additional

homes, for a total of nine. Based on this plan, the average lot size would be 11,744 square feet and the minimum lot width is proffered to be at least 63 feet, with three lots measuring 87 feet or wider. Three off-street parking spaces would be accommodated in each driveway, and standard curb and gutter would be installed. All homes would also be connected to public utilities.

These photo examples have been proffered to illustrate the potential appearance of the homes. Each would be built on a crawl space, would have a minimum of 1,200 square feet of finished floor area, and would consist of brick, stone, vinyl, or hardi-plank exteriors. Other proffered assurances include a minimum of 25% brick or stone on each front façade; a landscape buffer in the rear of each lot 33 feet deep; sound-dampening construction for the rear wall of each home facing the railroad tracks; individual light poles in each front yard; and limits on the hours of exterior construction. These proffers provide assurances that would otherwise not be available with by-right construction, and the concept plan illustrates a logical design consistent with the surrounding neighborhoods. The proposed home sizes are also comparable to others in the area, and the proposed project would be generally in keeping with the existing single-family development pattern. For these reasons, staff supports this request. This concludes my presentation. I'd be happy to answer any questions you may have.

Mr. Witte - Is there anyone on Webex or in the audience that opposes or would like to speak to this case? We have one.

Mr. Morris -

Mr. Chairman, there is no one on Webex for this case.

Mr. Baka - I have one question for staff if I may for Mr. Humphreys. On the proffer that specifies a 33-foot natural buffer. Can you explain what occurs if a future homeowner were to remove the vegetation in that 33-foot buffer? I'm looking at Proffer #3.

Mr. Humphreys -

Could you fully read that proffer. I'm sorry. I didn't...

Mr. Baka - "Railroad Buffer. A 33-foot natural buffer shall be retained adjacent to the railroad." So, my question I guess is, I'm just not as familiar with this, I apologize. What do you mean by retained? Suppose that some of that vegetation was removed by a future owner maybe years from now, maybe a second or third owner of the property doesn't know about this proffer. What happens if the yard is cleared one day and there's no vegetation left?

Mr. Humphreys - Without the "at time of construction" clause they would need to replant that. Part of that I believe is sound protection beyond just that lot.

Mr. Baka -

Okay, alright, thanks.

Mr. Mackey - railroad was still active?

We had a question about, did we know whether or not the

323			
324	Mr. Humphreys -	Not very, is my understanding. It is still active but not on a	
325		ne other rail lines in the county.	
326	9	,	
327	Mr. Emerson -	Mr. Mackey, I think there's one or two trains possibly a week	
328		on't believe there's many more than that on that line.	
329	that go to vvest i ont. I don't believe there's many more than that on that line.		
330	Mr. Humphreys -	It's mostly to serve the paper plant up there, right Joe?	
331	Wir. Hampfileys -	it's mostly to serve the paper plant up there, fight oce:	
332	Mr. Mackey -	I didn't have any other questions.	
	IVII. IVIACKEY -	I didn't have any other questions.	
333	Mr. Witte -	Any other questions?	
334	wir. witte -	Any other questions?	
335	Mar. Therman	Product accidence All the deficacions I access the acide and accident	
336	Mrs. Thornton -	I'm just curious. All the driveways, I guess the curb and gutter,	
337	right around there to the d	driveway are grayed except for two. Can you tell me why?	
338			
339		I think those were just ungrayed just to show an example of	
340	where the three cars can	go.	
341			
342	Mr. Mackey -		
343	driveways would be the s	ame size and accommodate three.	
344			
345	Mr. Humphreys -		
346	park everyone on the driveway or the street. So, they wanted at least three cars off the		
347	street so I think especially	in this example here shows how you fit the three cars on there.	
348			
349	Mrs. Thornton -	Okay.	
350			
351	Mr. Witte -	Any other questions?	
352			
353	Mr. Mackey -	No, sir.	
354			
355	Mr. Witte -	Would you like to hear from the applicant?	
356			
357	Mr. Mackey -	I didn't hear the response because we cut you off. Did they	
358	say there was anybody or	n Webex?	
359			
360	Mr. Witte -	No.	
361			
362	Mr. Emerson -	There's no one on Webex.	
363			
364	Mr. Witte -	We have a gentleman	
365			
366	Mr. Mackey -	No, that's Mr. Baker. We don't have anyone in the audience	
367	who's in opposition that w		
368			

Mr. Witte - No.

371 Mr. Mackey - Alright then, I'd like to hear from the applicant.

Mr. Witte - Ok.

373374375

376

377

378

379

380

381 382

383

384

385

386

387

388

389

390

391 92

393

394

395

396

397

398

399

400

401

402 403

404

405

406

407

408

409

410

411

412

413

14

369 70

372

Mr. Baker -Mr. Chairman, members of the Commission, I'm Mark Baker of Baker Development Resources. I'm here on behalf of the property owner. As staff said the property is on the south side of South Street. It backs up to that Southern Railway property you were just discussing, 2.34 acres, similarly situated properties both to the east and the west have been developed to single-family dwellings. This parcel remains vacant and that's principally due. I believe, to the fact that the sewer was never installed along this section of South Street. The property can be developed by-right as seven lots under the current R-3 guidelines. But there are no existing proffers so there are no quality assurances beyond the minimum code requirements, so this request is really about the tradeoff. The requested R-4A zoning allows for nine dwellings. That makes it more feasible obviously to extend the actual sewer as well as resurface the road, other rightof-way improvements that would be required through the process, curb and gutter, sidewalks. Certainly, more so than would be the case under a seven-lot scenario, and in return for those two additional lots, the proposed proffers guarantee a higher quality development and a higher degree of compatibility as noted by staff than is provided under the unproffered seven lot scenario. So, the request really isn't as much about lot area. The R-4A permits lots as small as 7,500 square feet but the concept plan shows all lots exceeding 10,000 square feet with three of those being over 11,000 square feet. In fact, the lots actually average over 11,000 square feet, which is the R-3 lot area requirement. Of course, as staff notes in their report the density is actually lower than existing adjacent built-out subdivisions. So, the key here is really the lot width. The R-4A lot width allows for the nine dwellings and importantly it also allows for rhythm in terms of lot widths where it can be configured such that an existing VEPCO easement is on the property line between Lot #2 and Lot #3 as shown on the concept plan. So, it deals with that constraint as well, given the flexibility of the more narrow lot widths. We've proffered a set of standards that are consistent with other compatible cases. I won't run through them all. Staff did talk about them, but I would note there are some instances where we exceed the typical in terms of the similar proffers we reviewed. For instance, we've proffered a partial brick frontage on all dwellings, not a percentage of dwellings. You can also see with the tracked changes, we've made a number of changes and upgrades to the proffers as we've moved through the process and that was not only in response to staff concerns and comments, but it was also in response to neighbor comments that we received and that includes the reduction in density. We started at 10 and we ended at nine. An increase in the buffering along the railroad property. The reconfiguration of that parking that you noted and the goal there was neighbors having concerns about parking and wanting to be able to ensure that we could park it all on our side of the street, three spaces on the site and enough room between driveways for two spaces in front of each lot. Additional pedestrian-scaled lighting that was added as a proffer. A greater commitment to roofing material quality. A greater commitment on masonry materials for foundations includes step stoops and porch piers. Sound suppression on the railroad along the railroad property. A reduction in hours of construction. And finally, we provided a greater variety of elevations to show some better sense of the quality and the character of the detail. In terms of that neighborhood outreach, we sent out notices to neighbors. We did hold two neighbor meetings in order to discuss the project. Certainly, to listen and ultimately to come back with you know some response in terms of some changes in response to concerns that we had heard. I think specifically in concerns, we certainly made a number of changes as you can see with the tracked changes on the proffers, but we specifically in response to concerns over density went from ten to nine. I think that was their biggest issue and since it was concerns over density that was driving those concerns. Again, seven dwellings were permitted here. We're only talking about two lots. The request really doesn't work at eight dwellings, especially with the additional quality assurances which increase the cost on a per lot basis for the development. Nine dwellings is really the sweet spot. It's the minimum that allows the pro forma that supports the needed site infrastructure work along with the additional proffers. So I guess in the end the goal here is sort of strike a balance between the increased density of the two units and the benefits of the quality assurance or the proffers in order to work best for both the owner and the neighbors while also meeting the goals of the county. So, I'll answer any questions you might have.

Mrs. Thornton - I just have one. The little brown ranch on the bottom of Exhibit A, I guess the second page. You proffer front porches. That one doesn't have any so I would either take it off or you need to add a front porch. Also, you stated that it's either going to have brick or stone. Typically, when we have elevations, you would just kind of give us examples of what it will look like and if that's something new maybe you're going to update it before you proceed further. I'm sure the Board would appreciate some brick or stone just so they can see how it would look.

Mr. Baker - I'm sorry. The concern is that there are some that don't actually show the masonry material?

Mrs. Thornton - Correct. You've got vinyl on some and then a vinyl, well to me I see two that actually resemble what you're stating, the brick and stone.

Mr. Baker- Maybe we, we could potentially work on that to your satisfaction. I think the goal was to show variety in form and still keeping them generally one story. Me and my client, we had pulled those together. We came down the home stretch and it was trying to show some variety in terms of the actual mass and the form of the building. With the idea that they would still have to meet that requirement for the partial brick front on each.

Mrs. Thornton - Sometimes it just helps.

Mr. Baker - I can see how visually it's confusing if you're just looking at it.

Mrs. Thornton - Right, especially if people just see the visual and they don't really understand the proffers then they might not know how it's going to look or feel, and

when you say front porch, that's different than a stoop. So, one of them looks more like a stoop than a porch. Just things like that.

463

464

Mr. Baker - I would suggest we can certainly work with staff to address that as we move forward if that's...I think that's a reasonable concern.

465 466 467

Mrs. Thornton - I was just...

468 469

470

471

472

Mr. Mackey - Absolutely, it did come up a little bit at the community meeting that some of the elevations didn't fit in with what they were offering, and I understand what he was saying but he's trying to show what the house may look like in shape but we want to see what it's going to look like with the shape and the stone. That makes it easier for everyone to visualize it.

473 474 475

Mr. Baker - Makes sense. I apologize for not thinking about that as we were...

476 477 478

Mrs. Thornton - That was just an observation.

479 480

Mr. Mackey - I didn't have any questions. Did anybody else?

481

Mr. Witte - Anybody else have questions?

482

Mr. Baka - No, sir.

485 486

84

Mr. Witte - How would you like to proceed?

487 488

489

490

491

492

493

494

495

496

497

498

499

500

501

502

I'm ready to make a motion but first I'd like to start off with a Mr. Mackey statement. I'd like to thank Mr. Baker and staff for all the hard work that they put in working on this application. Like Mr. Baker said, we did have two community meetings and they were very good meetings. I wasn't able to make the first one because I was out of town. But the second one on June 14 went very well. It was only attended by about five or six people but they were in the neighboring neighborhoods, so they had very good insight you know on what they were looking for. They even came up with the restriction on the hours of construction, so I didn't have to come up with that because that's a pet peeve of mine. They were very in tune with that. I appreciate the applicant for... The density is a little bit higher than what we're looking for, but I do think the tradeoff is well worth it because some of the neighboring neighborhoods that are close by this is a little bit higher. But the quality that we've been given assurances for I think outweighs the marginal increase in the density and I appreciate that. And adding the extra buffer for the noise suppression, that was very helpful. I do think that this project will enhance that area, and for that Mr. Chairman, I move that we recommend approval of REZ2023-00021, 401 South, LLC with the proffers dated June 16, 2023.

503 504 505

Mr. Baka - Second.

507 Mr. Witte - We have a motion by Mr. Mackey, a second by Mr. Baka. All in favor say aye.

510 Commission - Aye.

512 Mr. Witte - Opposed? Motion passes.

REASON: Acting on a motion by Mr. Mackey, seconded by Mr. Baka, the Planning Commission voted 5-0 (one abstention) to recommend the Board of Supervisors grant the request because it is appropriate residential zoning at this location and the proffered conditions would provide for a higher quality of development than would otherwise be possible.

Mr. Emerson - Mr. Chairman, we now move on to the next item on your agenda which also appears on Page 2. It is Provisional Use Permit or PUP2023-00011, Jeffrey P. Geiger for The Marsoby Company.

PUP2023-00011 Jeffrey P. Geiger for The Marsoby Company: Request for a Provisional Use Permit under Section 24-4315. E of Chapter 24 of the County Code to allow a 24-hour operation of a convenience store with fuel sales and car wash on Parcel 823-720-9629 located on the east line of S. Airport Drive (State Route 156) approximately 390' north of its intersection with Eastpark Court. The existing zoning is B-2 Business District. The 2026 Comprehensive Plan recommends Office. The site is located in the Airport Safety Overlay District and Enterprise Zone.

The staff report will be presented by Ms. Molly Mallow.

Ms. Mallow - Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members of the Commission. This is a request for a Provisional Use Permit to allow for the 24-hour operation of a Royal Farms. The subject property is located on the east line of S. Airport Drive, approximately 390 feet from its intersection with Eastpark Court. The site is zoned B-2 Business District. The surrounding uses include Highland Springs High School, Fair Oaks Elementary School, undeveloped parcels zoned R-4 in the Jackson Terrace subdivision to the south, and residential parcels, zoned R-3, in the Scottie Farms subdivision to the west.

The applicant has submitted plan of development POD2023-00124 for the proposed development. In addition to the transitional buffers and setbacks required by code, a number of conditions have been included to protect existing residential and commercial uses in the surrounding area. These include limiting the hours of operation of the car wash, equipping all speaker systems with volume control settings, and limiting access points to being located only facing S. Airport Drive.

The applicant has also submitted a security plan that details the security measures that are to be implemented on the subject property. On June 29, the applicant held a community meeting at the Sandston Public Library. This meeting was attended by five community members who voiced concerns regarding traffic noise, roadway congestion along S. Airport Drive, and the proposed project's proximity to Jennings Road and the

residential properties located there. The 2026 Comprehensive Plan recommends Office for the subject parcel. Although the proposed project does not fully align with this designation, this use does align with the site's location within the Enterprise Zone, the existing B-2 zoning of the property and would expand commercial development along S. Airport Drive. Due to these reasons, staff recommends approval of this request subject to the conditions outlined in Section 4 of the staff report. This concludes my presentation and I'd be happy to answer any questions.

Mr. Witte - Any questions by the Commission? Is there anybody in the audience or on Webex who would like to speak to this case?

Mr. Morris - Mr. Chairman, there is no one on Webex for this case.

Mr. Witte - How would you like to proceed?

Mr. Mackey - I'd like to hear from the applicant.

Mr. Geiger - Good evening, Mr. Chairman, members of the Commission. My name is Jeff Geiger. I'm here on behalf of the applicant. I'd like to thank the Planning staff. In particular, your reviewer from the police department. It's been a real collaborative effort to arrive at conditions that are included with the PUP conditions that address the community's concerns and the concerns for safety with respect to this use. We believe that this use will be very beneficial to those residents in the area that might be working the 3<sup>rd</sup> shift, to travelers to and from the airport in the late evenings or early morning and then also to commuters on 64. On behalf of the applicant, we'd appreciate a recommendation of approval of the PUP request before you. Happy to answer any questions.

Mr. Witte - Any questions by the committee?

Mrs. Thornton - I just have a question. What are the statistics from other you know from this company that has other locations of a car wash being from 12:00 am to 6:00 am limited? Who goes and washes their car at 11:00 at night? Just curious. Is there any background or statistics on this? Why you chose those hours?

Mr. Geiger - Staff suggested those hours on the condition because the underlying B-2 would allow the car wash to operate up until midnight and then restart at 6. As we have done on some other B-2 PUP requests the car wash hours were not allowed to continue past midnight. Obviously, I think the staff has had concerns that you don't want that car wash operating at those hours when the residents might be hearing them.

Mrs. Thornton - Yes, I was just curious because you don't want outdoor speakers from 11:00 to 6:00 but a car wash is just as loud and you're allowing it to go to midnight. It's just an observation. I'm just curious why we have a car wash going until 12:00 am when people are sleeping.

600			
601 602	Mr. Geiger - to 12:00.	We're happy to have the hours, the hours of the speakers go	
603	M TI	Also disclosing the constitutional Bloods are St. Box to Some to hade	
604 605	Mrs. Thornton - the residents out here.	No, that's not the way I would like to see it. I'm trying to help	
606			
607	Mr. Geiger -	One of the things I do want you to recognize when we're	
608	looking at the tax map. It looks like those are residents to our south. Those are old. That's		
609	an old 1950 subdivision that never got built. It's owned by a lumber company right now.		
610	We project that that land will ultimately get assembled and developed for commercial		
611	uses. Kind of expanding upon the use that's here and then on the other side of Airport		
612		veloped and provides a buffer. From the homes and the	
613	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	t. One of the things we worked with on staff particularly at the	
614		e plan for what is fronting Airport because there was concern	
615		d the car wash look like, what would the exposure be? So, we ping along the frontage of Airport.	
616 617	worked with some landsca	ping along the horitage of Airport.	
618	Mrs. Thornton -	Okay, well, could you find out what other car washes in the,	
619	I'm just curiousfor future		
620	Till just cullouslor luture	·	
621	Mr. Geiger -	Yes, I'd be happy to provide you that information. It's the same	
622		e done for other B-2 PUPs for the carwash.	
623	and requirement that we v	e done for other b 2 f of a for the darwash.	
624	Mr. Witte -	Anyone else with questions?	
625		The state of the s	
626	Mr. Archer -	One second. Can you tell me what other Royal Farms there	
627	are that exist near here? I	know they're not in Henrico.	
628			
629	Mr. Geiger -	If you're asking built in the Richmond region?	
630			
631	Mr. Archer -	Yes.	
632			
633	Mr. Geiger -	We have some built in Chesterfield or under construction in	
634	Chesterfield.		
635			
636	Mr. Branin -	There's one right on 360, 360 and 288. There's five of them in	
637	Fredericksburg. I got coffe	e at one today.	
638			
639	Mr. Geiger -	Thank you. It's primarily a company that's come out of the	
640	Maryland area and is looking to expand into the Richmond region. Royal Farms is working		
641	on a variety of locations pr	imarily Henrico and Chesterfield.	
642	AA. A.d.	V-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1	
643	Mr. Archer -	Yes, I rode back to New Jersey with my son-in-law a couple	
644 645		of the chicken places that we passed he had to stop at Royal ken. So, I'll have to try it I suppose if we get it.	

Mr. Mackey - Any other questions? There it is, thank you. I'd like to thank Mr. Geiger and staff for coming together and working on the case. We had a meeting, I forget what day it was, we had a meeting with staff and Supervisor Nelson talking about some of these issues. We were able to come together and agree on everything that we had received. I think we answered all the questions that the community had about the sound suppression. Not much you can do about traffic. I mean it is the Enterprise area and there's going to be some traffic out there. There's nothing you can do about that but I do think it will be a good addition to that area. Mr. Chairman, I move that we recommend approval of PUP2023-00011, The Marsoby Company, subject to conditions listed in the staff report.

Mr. Archer - I'll second Mr. Mackey's motion.

Mr. Mackey - Thank you sir.

Mr. Witte - We have a motion by Mr. Mackey, a second by Mr. Archer.

663 All in favor say aye.

665 Commission - Aye.

Mr. Witte - Opposed? Motion passes.

Mr. Geiger - Thank you.

**REASON:** Acting on a motion by Mr. Mackey, seconded by Mr. Archer, the Planning Commission voted 5-0 (one abstention) to recommend the Board of Supervisors **grant** the request because when properly developed and regulated by the recommended special conditions, it would not be detrimental to the public health, safety, welfare and values in the area.

Mr. Emerson - Mr. Chairman, the next item on your agenda this evening is the consideration of approval of your minutes from your regular meeting on June 15, 2023. I don't believe we have an errata sheet; is that correct? We do not have an errata sheet but if there are any changes or corrections the Commission wishes to make certainly let us know and we will take care of those.

Mr. Witte - Anyone have changes? Any more business?

Mr. Emerson - We need a motion for approval on the minutes.

Mr. Baka - So moved.

Mrs. Thornton - Second.

691	Mr. Witte -	We have a motion by Mr. Baka, a second by Mrs. Thornton.
692	All in favor say aye.	
693		
694	Commission -	Aye.
695		
696	Mr. Witte -	Opposed? Motion passes.
697		
698	Mr. Emerson -	Mr. Chairman, I have nothing further for the Commission this
699	evening.	
700		
701	Mr. Witte -	Anyone else?
702		
703	Mr. Baka -	No sir.
704		
705		
706		0,1
707		1/11/1/1/1/1
708		KH WWW IN
709		Mr. Robert H. Witte fr., Chairperson
710		
711		
712		12 - 21
713		Mr. R. Joseph Enferson, Secretary